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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CAscADES COMPUTER INNOVATION LLC, CaseNo.: 12-CV-1143 YGR
Plaintiff, ORDER DENYING MOTIONSTO DISMISS
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT; ORDER TO
VS. SHow CAUSE

RPX CORPORATION, €t al.,
Defendants.

This antitrust case stems from allegations of anticompetitive behavior in the negotiatio
patent licenses. Plaintiff Cascades Computeovation LLC ("Cascadestontrols a portfolio of
patents, one of which allegedly optimizes tiperation of Android, an operating system for
smartphones and tablet computePefendants HTC CorporatigFHTC"), Motorola Mobility
Holdings, Inc. ("Motorola"), and SamsungeEtronics Co. Ltd. ("Samsung") (collectively,
"Manufacturing Defendants") manufacture a high peegmof all Android-compatible devices sd
in the United States. Cascades allegesttiealanufacturing Defendantssolved to negotiate
licenses for Cascades-conteal patents only through Defearatt RPX Corporation ("RPX";
collectively with Manu&cturing Defendants, "Defendantsd)purported "defensive" patent
aggregator which counts the Manufacturing Defnts amongst its members. The thrust of
Cascades' First Amended Complaint ("FAC")hat Defendants' alleged conduct constitutes a
conspiracy to monopsonize the market to buy Castpdtnt licenses, in violation of Sections 1

and 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 82 1and California unfair competition laws.
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The Manufacturing Defendants and RPX havealfgdeparate motions to dismiss the FAC.
(Dkt. Nos. 98 (Manufacturing Defendants' Mati@Mfr. Mot.")), 99 (RPX's Motion ("RPX
Mot.")).) The motions overlap substantially in amgithat the FAC fails to allege either antitrust
violations or a plausible conspiyato commit them. Manufacturirigefendants, for their part, seeg
dismissal on the further ground thagithalleged conduct is protected by theerr-Pennington
doctrine. That doctrine exempts from antitrust liéotoncerted action taken in the exercise of t
First Amendment right of petition, a categoryagtions which, in proper circumstances, may
encompass the settlement of lawsuits. Invkig, the Court notes that Cascades has brought
lawsuits against the Manufacturing Defendants (anuthers) in the Northern District of Illinois,
claiming infringement of at least onetbe patents implicated in this case.

Both motions before the Court are fully bed. Cascades filed a consolidated opposition
brief (Dkt. No. 103 ("Opp'n™)), to which the Maragturing Defendants and Rioth replied (Dkt.
Nos. 104 ("Mfr. Reply™), 105 ("RPX Reply")).

Having carefully considered the papers and oral argument submitted, the Court concly
that Cascades' amended complaint, unlike itelraomplaint, alleges specific facts raising a
reasonable inference that the Manufacturing Bedats and RPX engagedarso-called "hub-and-

spoke" conspiracy to force subrapetitive pricing for Cascades' patent licenses by monopsoni3

the market therefar. In light of the revised allegations, ati procedural posture of this case, the

CourtDENIES both motions to dismiss.
While denying the motions to dismiss due toplausibility of the atitrust conduct alleged,
the Court remains concerned about the circumstagreesding the instant litegion and the role of

the validity of the patents. Given that tHieged antitrust conduct sgécally concerns the

! Antitrust conspiracies are typically labeled asesittorizontal or vertical. "Restraints imposed |
agreement between competitors have traditionally been denomindtedzastalrestraints, and
those imposed by agreement between firndifedrent levels of distribution agertical restraints.”

Bus. Electronics Corp. v. Sharp Electronics Co#4&5 U.S. 717, 730 (1988) (emphases supplied).

Hub-and-spoke conspiracies are a hybrid in which a hub, "generally the dominant purchaser
supplier in the relevant market,” coordinatesated action betweengskes," that is, direct

competitors connected to the hub by a vertical agreensedT otal Benefits Planning Agency, Ing.

v. Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shigkb2 F.3d 430, 435 n.3 (6th Cir. 2008). "The rim of the whe
is the connecting agreements among the horizoatapetitors . . . that form the spokesd.
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licensing of otherwise valid patenthe Court, exercising its inherepower to control its docket,
also issues a@RDER TO SHOW CAUSE why this case should not be stayed until a determination
the merits of the patent claims now prodagdn the Northern District of lllinois.

l. BACKGROUND

A. THE PARTIES

Cascades is what is sometimes callédan-practicing entity,” "NPE," or, more
colloquially, a "patent troll"—that is, an entity tHanforces patent rightsgainst accused infringen
in an attempt to collect licemsy fees, but does not manufacture products or supply services bg
upon the patents in questionriternet Ad Systems, LLC v. Opodo, 481 F. Supp. 2d 596, 601
(N.D. Tex. 2007). Labels aside, Cascades' sfauegbse is to level thegfing field between the
"individual inventors" who own patents and therge multinational corporations with vast
resources" who, according to Cascades, commafripge them. (FAC §{ 17-18.) Cascades
purports to make patent licengiand litigation a more equabmtest by providing inventors with
financial assistance and strategic guidance.

One inventor associated with €&ades is non-party Elbrus Intaetional. Cascades alleged
holds exclusive rights to licensacgenforce a portfolio of 38 techmgly patents originally issued t
Elbrus (the "Elbrus Patents" ondividually, an "Elbrus Patent"). €hElbrus Patent central to this
case is United States Patent No. 7,065,750, entitled "Method and Apparatus for Preserving H
Exceptions in Binary Translated Code," issdede 20, 2006 ("'750 Patent"). The '750 Patent
allegedly optimizes the use of Android, a compoferating system used in mobile electronics S
as smartphones and tablets.

The Manufacturing Defendants manufacture motbdeices that allegedly employ Android
and infringe the '750 Patent. Of the devicaagugndroid sold in the United States, the three
Manufacturing Defendants, takerg&gher, sell more than 90ngent of mobile phones and 75
percent of tablets. (FAC 9] 13, 72, 88.) Cascades alletjest the respective Manufacturing
Defendant's U.S. market share for Andmpitbnes is: for HTC, 41 percent; for Motorola, 35
percent; and for Samsung, 17 percent. (FAC  12.)
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RPX claims to be a defensive patent agg@gatr "anti-troll,” formed to protect its
members from allegedly baseless infringenudains brought by NPEs like Cascades. RPX
members allegedly pay "from $60@® $6,000,000" to enter intosabscription ageement with
RPX. (FAC Y 2.) Subscription gives membeligense to practice RPXeatrolled patents. RPX
allegedly has in excess of 120 meardwho enjoy rights to a patguurtfolio of "more than 2,950
patents in various fields, not counting the 29,ptents for which it [has] acquired exclusive
licensing rights.” (FAC 11 2, 20.) Cascadesgatethat RPX members tgpaily subscribe for an
initial period of three years, after which time they face the loss of their RPX-provided licenseq
"in some cases, . . . potential expesta lawsuits for patent infringgent if RPX chooses to sell thg
relevant acquired patents.” (FAC 1 24.) Impuita the RPX subscriptioagreement "purported|y
give[s] members the ability weal independently itheir own self-interest." (FAC  20.)

In addition to so-called "defensive" patagfgregation, RPX allegedly will sometimes act
"as a purchasing or negotiating agent for a sulifsét members in what it calls, variously,
structured or syndicated acquisitions.” (FAC $&t also idf 20.) "In this type of arrangement,
the pertinent members provide financing for thguasition of specific patenights.” (FAC { 2see
also id.f 21.) By exercising group purchasing poaed causing potentialckensees to negotiate
solely through RPX, RPX can obtain for its meargoreduced royalty rates, which RPX commonl
refers to as "whealsale" prices. SeeFAC 11 19-22.) Each Manufactng Defendant is concededly
a member of RPX.

B. LICENSE NEGOTIATIONSAND LITIGATION OF THE ELBRUS PATENTS

The present dispute originates in failed patEense negotiations between Cascades ang
RPX. Whereas the initial corigint omitted the details of #se negotiations, the FAC pleads
specific names, dates, and communicationstablp, Cascades now alleges that RPX, not
Cascades, initiated the licensinggotiations by contacting Cascadaw firm, Niro Haller & Niro,
with which RPX had a prior histpiof dealing. During the ensuimgegotiations, Cascades brough
number of patent infringement lawsuits againdividual Manufacturindoefendants, as well as
other RPX members. When licensing neduaties between RPX and Cascades broke down,

Cascades made each of the Manufacturing Defes@anidentical licensing offer which included

5 and
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sizable rebate to the first company to accéjitne of the Manufacturing Defendants responded
the offer. Cascades then filed this antitdastsuit, alleging thaRPX and the Manufacturing
Defendants had agreed for the Manufacturing Defendants to refrain from negotiating with Cal
individually and instead to negatiaany license only through RPXAs alleged in the FAC, these
events unfolded in the following order:

Beginning in March 2008 and continuingdhgh 2011, Niro Haller & Niro "negotiated
numerous patent acquisition-licemgiarrangements with RPX . . . ." (FAC 1 101.) Under thesq
arrangements, RPX acquired licenses under patelatdhseveral clients of Niro Haller & Niro,
though not, apparently, Cascades. (FAC 11 101-02.)

Through this preexisting relationship with Cades' counsel, in May or June of 2011, RP
Head of Acquisitions, Kevin Barhydt, initiatedgaiations by contacting Niro Haller & Niro to
discuss the possibility of acquiring license rights to Cascades' patifelio of Elbrus Patents.
(FAC 11 19, 103.) Though the key Elbrus Pater@ded by RPX and the Manufacturing Defendd
was the '750 Patent, Cascades, in order to liceas@altent, was willing to consider a license for
entire Elbrus portfolio. (FAC { 19.)

On June 26, 2011, Cascades sued a non-paXynidber, Hynix, in Chicago, lllinois, for
infringement of an Elbrus Paterglating to the design of a padiar type of canputer memory.
(FAC 1 103.)

On July 6, 2011, Cascades sued two of the Manufacturing Defendants, Samsung and
Motorola, in Chicago, lllinois, for infringement of the '750 Patent. (FAC Y 103.) On Septemb
2011, Cascades sued the third Manufacturing Defendant, HTC, as well as former defendant
Electronics, for infringemendf the ‘750 Patent. (FAC { 103.)

On September 8, 2011, Cascades reported the obthe Elbrus Patents to RPX. (FAC

51.) The FAC does not disclose the total allegedevalar the basis for its calculation, stating or

2 Cascades has also sued the following RPX mesrfbeinfringing various Elbrus Patents: ACEH
America Corp.; Dell, Inc.; Hynix Semiconductémg.; LG Electronics; Sharp Electronics Corp.;
Sony-Ericsson; and Pantech Wireless, Inc. (MA.) Of these, LG Electronics and Dell were
named as defendants in the original complaithigicase. Cascades voluntarily dismissed its
claims against LG (Dkt. No. 88) and did not nabedl as a defendant in the FAC after the Court
dismissed the original complaint's claims agaiball with leave to amed (Dkt. No. 93 at 10-12).
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that the value of a license for the entire Cascade$olio to "Samsung alone was then valued at
$50 million." (FAC { 51.)

On September 20, 2011, Motorola's top Isiag executive, Brett Roesslein, advised
Cascades that Motorola would rd#al independently with Cascaded that its intention was to
deal only through RPX, stating, "We would like to resolve this through RPX." (FAC { 32.)

By September 23, 2011, Barhydt told CascdabdasRPX had raised sufficient money from
its members to acquire a license unaléthe Elbrus Patents, includj the '750 Patent. (FAC { 32
Prior to September 23, 2011, Cascades allegeg, Were "[m]eetings and¥ direct contact and

communication between RPX and defendants kitéo Samsung, HTC and other RPX members.

(FAC 1 32.) Cascades does not allege spe@hosit these meetings, only their bare occurrence.

Cascades alleges bilateral meetihgeveen RPX and single RPX membessefEAC 11 55, 62),
though not multilateral meetings attended by midtlRPX members simultaneously. Cascades
alleges that Defendants have concealed megtings and communications. (FAC 1 62.)

By October 11, 2011, RPX, again through Barhdt] negotiated with Cascades to acqu
license rights under all of the ElbrBsitents for most of its 100yd members (including each of th
Manufacturing Defendants). (FAC 11 19, 3The relevant RPX members, including the
Manufacturing Defendants, were read to contribute téhe license acquisition, which would hay
resulted in a "high, seven-figure payment te€zales for a fully paidp license under all the
[Elbrus Patents].” (FAC 1 31.)

In mid-October 2011, "Barhydt told Cascadest tRPX had to withdraw its offer because
one or more of its members would not fund the eedeal at the offered amount.” (FAC  33.)
Cascades alleges that this statement amountadddmission, "in effect, that all relevant membg

either had to agree to a licermenone would agree.” (FAC { 33.)

e

e

"On November 2, 2011, Barhydt . . . represented that the key RPX client-members wanted

global solution’ to the Cascadesttaa" (FAC { 34.) He wrote: ‘@ving problems foour clients is
the role of RPX—but we aren't in a position wéare can pay more for something than what ouf

clients value it at." (FAC { 34.) Cascades regards this statement as an admission "that clier]
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members in combination, not RPX, [had] the uéttensay in determining what RPX would pay arf
that RPX was negotiating collectiyefor its members.” (FAC T 34.)

Also on November 2, 2011, Baydt responded via email "to Cascades' question whethe
parties should 'discuss an excleslicense under just [the '750 Rajeforgetting about the entire
portfolio.™ (FAC { 36.) Barhydt stated: "[O]alients don't want to hear about Cascades again
so unfortunately solving ghproblem on one asset [the '750 patesmi} a workable solution for us.'
(FAC 1 36 (alteration in FAC).)

Sometime later, Barhydt explained to Cascad®g RPX wanted a license for all the Elbrd

Patents rather than the '750 Patent alone:

[M]y point was that our clientdon't want to solve this one
Cascades case (on the '750 Patent)—only to basically fund additional
litigations from Cascades. They ma global solution to Cascades—
not just a solution on this one pattiar case—knowing that there will
be others to follow.

It wasn't that | (or our clientg)idn't want to hear about Cascades

again. Wel/they just don't want to have to solve this problem multiple
times."

(FAC 1 35 (emphasis omitted).)

"Meetings, email and telephone contact betwRPBIX and its key members took place in
October and November 2011." (FAC { 34.) Gueh meeting, between RPX and Pantech, a nd
party RPX member, was scheduled for November 7, 2011. The ttggedly was "RPX's
acquisition of a license under thes€ades patents.” (FAC 1 34.)

In January 2012, Cascades tried to negolie¢éesing agreements with each of the
Manufacturing Defendants individila (FAC § 41.) Specifically, Cascades offered each of the

Manufacturing Defendants:

an identical low-priced licenseahwould have required a lump-sum
royalty payment of only $5 million faa fully paid-up license under all
the Cascades patents with the right (of the first party to accept) to
recover up to all of the payment made based on 25% of the licensing
revenues that Cascades receivedifany other accused infringer.

(FAC 1 41.) One effect of this license would battthe cost of the licenger the first party to
accept would be subsidized by ldieensees, up to the full cost of the first party's licenSee (

FAC 1 41.) No Manufacturing Defendanspended to thisfter. (FAC | 41.)
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On March 7, 2012, Cascades filinis antitrust lawsuit.

After the filing of the lawsuit, at least two RRnembers, LG Electronics and Philips, "broke

from the RPX-driven conspira@nd independently negotiated settents with Cascades . . . ."
(FAC 1 42.) LG Electronics allegedly has a 4ceat market share and Philips has a market shg
less than 1 percent. (FAC 1.2

On January 24, 2013, the Court dismissed Castamitial complaint, granting leave to
amend. (Dkt. No. 93 ("Jan. 24 Order").)
1. LEGAL STANDARD

A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) testslégal sufficiency of the claims alleged in
the complaint.lleto v. Glock, InG.349 F.3d 1191, 1199-1200 (9th Cir. 2003). "Dismissal can b
based on the lack of a cognizable legal theotherabsence of suffiai¢ facts alleged under a
cognizable legal theory.Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep'®01 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). A

of a plaintiff's well-pleaded allegats of material fact are takentase and construed in the light

most favorable to the plaintiffiDaniels-Hall v. Nat'l Educ. Ass'629 F.3d 992, 998 (9th Cir. 2010).

The court need not, however, "accapttrue allegations that contradict exhibits attached to the
Complaint or matters properly subject to judiciatice, or allegations that are merely conclusoryf
unwarranted deductions of faot, unreasonable inferencedd.

To withstand a motion to dismiss, a pldinthust not merely allege conduct that is
conceivable but must instead gke"enough facts to state a clainrétief that is plausible on its
face." Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombl|y650 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). "A claim has facial plausibility wh
the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows tlert to draw the reasonable inference that the
defendant is liable fahe misconduct alleged Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 679 (2009) (citing
Twombly 550 U.S. at 556). In the antitrust contéatcourt must determine whether an antitrust
claim is 'plausible’ in light of basic economic principle®Villiam O. Gilley Enters., Inc. v. Atl.
Richfield Co, 588 F.3d 659, 662 (9th Cir. 2009) (citimgrombly 550 U.S. at 556). "The

plausibility standard is not akto a probability requirement, bittasks for more than a sheer

% The FAC describes Philips as having "0%" mastetre, but at oral argument Cascades' couns
clarified that Philips "was just launching its pratiline," thereby confirming the inference that
Philips held a de minimus but actdlare of the market. (Dkt.aN113 ("Transcript”) at 22:22-25.
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possibility that a defendant haged unlawfully . . . . When a congint pleads facts that are merely
consistent with a defendant's liatyi) it stops short of the line betwepnssibility and plausibility of
entitlement to relief."Igbal, 556 U.S. at 679 (quotinbwombly 550 U.S. at 556-57) (internal
guotation marks omitted). In sum, a claim may proaedd if the facts alleged foster a reasonablle
inference of liability, strongethan a mere possibilitySee id
[11.  DISCUSSION

The Court focuses principally on Cascades' fdamtitrust claims, since Cascades' state-jJaw
claims rise and fall with them.Sg¢e infraSection Ill.E.) Cascades asserts four federal claims: (1)
against all Defendants herizontalconspiracy to restrain tradewiolation of Section 1 of the
Sherman Act (FAC 1 52-67);)(2gainst all Defendantsvartical conspiracy to r&rain trade in
violation of Section 1 (FAC 168-78); (3) against all Defendangsgconspiracy to monopsonize in
violation of Section 2 (FAC 1 79-83); a(®) against RPX only, a separate Section 2
monopsonization claim (FAC 11 84-107). Nolimaa conspiracy i®ither horizontabr vertical;
Cascades' assertion of both types is explainats aflegation of a hub-ansppoke conspiracy, which
consists of both horizontal and vertical elemems.set forth below, all four federal claims
stemming from Cascades' hub-and-spible®ry survive the pleading stage.

A. FIRST ELEMENT OF SECTION 1 CLAIMS: CONSPIRACY

Section 1 makes illegal "[e]Jvegontract, combination . . . , epnspiracy, in restraint of
trade or commerce."” 15 U.S.C. 8 1. The Supr@uourt has construedetistatute to prohibit,
however, onlyunreasonableestraints of tradeBrantley v. NBC Universal, Inc675 F.3d 1192,
1197 (9th Cir. 2012). To state a claim under Sediamplaintiff "must plead not just ultimate facts
(such as a conspiracy), but evidentiary facts whidhye, will prove: (1) a contract, combination ¢r
conspiracy among two or more persons or distisiness entities; (2) by which the persons or
entities intended to harm or remh trade or commerce among theesal States, or with foreign
nations; (3) which actually injures competitiorkKendall v. Visa U.S.A., Inc518 F.3d 1042, 1047
(9th Cir. 2008).

These elements must be pled "with enough fachadter (taken as true) to suggest that an

agreement was madeTwombly 550 U.S. at 556. "[A]n allegatiaof parallel conduct and a bare
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assertion of conspiracy will not sufficeld. "Without more, parallel conduct does not suggest
conspiracy, and a conclusoryegjation of agreement at someidentified point does not supply
facts adequate to show illegalityld. at 556-57. "Hence, when allégas of parallel conduct are
set out in order to make a Section 1 claim, thegtrbe placed in a contethat raises a suggestion
of a preceding agreement, not merely parallel conthattcould just as welle independent action,
Id. at 557. To allege an agreemepigintiffs need not plead "spific back-room meetings betwee
specific actors at which spéicidecisions were madelh re Graphics Processing Units Antitrust
Litig., 527 F. Supp. 2d 1011, 1024 (N.D. Cal. 2007). Ndrnecessary for each co-conspirator t¢
"know of the existence or identity of the other mensbof the conspiracy or the full extent of the
conspiracy."In re High-Tech Employee Antitrust Litj@56 F. Supp. 2d 1103, 1118 (N.D. Cal.
2012) (citingBeltz Travel Serv. Inc. v. Int'l Air Transp. As$20 F.2d 1360, 1366-67 (9th Cir.
1980)). Antitrust plaintiffsnust, however, allege "factsich asa 'specific time, place, or person
involved in the alleged conspirasi to give a defendant seekiogespond to allegations of a
conspiracy an idea of where to begitKéndall 518 F.3d at 1047 (quotingvombly 550 U.S. at
565 n.10) (emphasis supplied). Courts weighingratitrust defendant's motion to dismiss should
consider the plaintiff's allegations in their ertirand refrain from "tigtly compartmentalizing the
various factual components and wiping glate clean after scrutiny of eact're High-Tech
Employee856 F. Supp. 2d at 1118 (quoti@gnt'l Ore Co. v. Union Carbide & Carbon Cor370
U.S. 690, 699 (1962)). "The character aneafbf a conspiracy are not to be judged by
dismembering it and viewing its separate @aout only by looking at as a whole.”ld. (brackets
omitted).

Cascades' Section 1 claims require Cascadatetye a plausible copgsacy—in this case, &
hub-and-spoke conspiracy in which RPX ie tlub and the Manufacturing Defendants are the
spokes. (Opp'n at 32.) Accordingly, Cascadest allege both a horizontal agreement between
Manufacturing Defendants (that s connecting "rim") and vacal agreements (or "spokes")
between RPX and each individual Manufacturing Defendant.

Defendants pose three challenges to the FAR&gations of a conspiracy: (1) Defendants

alleged conduct is more plausibly explained bgdcaaes' overvaluation of the Elbrus Patents thg
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by any collusive actity; (2) Cascades allegesere parallel conduct and organizational member;
in RPX and thus falls short of pleading a rira,, horizontal agreement between Manufacturing
Defendants; and (3) Cascades falplead the spokes, i.e., ateal conspiracy, because the
subscription agreements between RPX and its members are not themselves actionable. Thq
addresses each argument in turn.

1 Explanation for the Alleged Conspiracy

The linchpin of RPX's attack on the conspiratgment of Cascades&ion 1 claims is its
contention that Cascades overpriced its patentdegrand that this overging, rather than any
collusion, explains RPX's refusal to take a licensbaalf of its members. (RPX Mot. at 4-6.)
The Manufacturing Defendants make substantthldysame argument, framing it as a contention
that the alleged conspiracy "makes no econommsesé (Mfr. Mot. at 14-16.) According to
Defendants, Cascades' overvaluation supplies a ptausible reason than conspiracy for RPX's
withdrawal from the licensing deal with Cascadesradrriving at a priceand for the Manufacturin
Defendants' non-responsiveness to Cascades' attempt to negotiate with them individually. (I
Mot. at 15 ("[T]he conduct allegehere is just as (if not mgreonsistent with each alleged
conspirator . . . refusing to license an over-valpaent"); RPX Mot. at 4'Replacing that simple
explanation [of overpricing] with conspiraeynd monopsonization thees is profoundly
implausible."))

Defendants' competing interpretation of F&C may ultimately prove true, but "[t]he
standard at this stage of the litiigen is not that plaintifé explanation must be true or even proba
The factual allegations of the complaint need only ‘plausibly suggest an entitlement to &tiésf."
v. Baca 652 F.3d 1202, 1216-17 (9th Cir. 2011) cerhidd, 132 S. Ct. 2101 (U.S. 2012) (quoting
Twombly 550 U.S. at 556). Indeed, "[i]f there areotalternative explarti@ns, one advanced by

defendant and the other advanbgdlaintiff, both of which ar@lausible, plaintiff's complaint

ship

» CoL

Vfr.

ble.

A 4

survives a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)@lintiff's complaint may be dismissed only when

defendant's plausible alternative explanation is so convincing that plaintiff's explanation is

implausible.” Id. at 1216. Even in antitrust cases, whayme courts have surmised that a higher

pleading standard might apph.g, id. at 1215-1216, the Court's taskden Rule 12(b)(6) is only tg
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ascertain whether the allegatidingise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidg
of illegal agreementKendall 518 F.3d at 1047 (quotingvombly 550 U.S. at 556).

In its Jan. 24 Order dismissing Cascades' comiphath leave to amad, the Court rested its
holding on a determination that Cascades had edgadggeneric pleading,” and did not pass on
merits of Defendants' competing interpretation of the compla8egeJan. 24 Order at 9-10.)
Turning now for the first time to Defendands/erpricing theory, the Court acknowledges its
plausibility, but does not find it so fully and coneingly explanatory as to render Cascades' rev
allegations implausible by comparison. The Cditst addresses RPX'sgarment, which proceeds
as follows: The FAC alleges that, by October 2011, RPX and Cascades had agreed on an
undisclosed "high seven-figure" peidor RPX to acquire license ritghunder Cascades' patents g
RPX's members, including the ManufactigriDefendants. (FAC 1 19, 31.) Though RPX
allegedly withdrew from that agement after one or more of its members refused to fund the d
the agreed-upon price (FAC { 33),Rises said price to assertbaseline” value for the entire
Elbrus Patent portfolio of "less than $10 milligiRPX Mot. at 4). RPX then calculates that
Cascades' later offers to the individual Manufeiog Defendants would ke resulted in a total
payment to Cascades of $12.5 million: $5 milleach from the last two to respond, and $2.5
million from the first to respond.ld. at 4-5) This sum would purchase, for the three
Manufacturing Defendants alone, eelnse for the '750 Patent only—rat than a license for all of
RPX's members for all of the Elbrus Pateritslight of the purported sub-$10 million baseline
established in the RPX-Cascades negotiations, RRxths Court to conclude that Cascades' lat|
offers directly to the Manufagting Defendants were "vastly moexpensive" and therefore
"predictably attract[ed] little interest."Id( at 5, 4.)

This theory, while plausible, is insufficient tompel dismissal for three reasons. First,
RPX's overpricing theory depends on inferences dragainst, rather than in favor of, Cascades:
namely, that the "high seven-figurptice initially agreedipon represents aéasonable valuation”
of the Elbrus Patents (RPX Mait 4), and not "monopsonizationhéeving its illegal purpose” of
price suppression (Opp'n at 24). The FAC is amlenakeither interpretation, and therefore this
argument presents no basis for dismis&dhrr, 652 F.3d at 1216.
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Second, RPX's overvaluation theory amounts tora thanial of Cascadeallegation that it
had valued its patents much higher thanséneen-digit figure upon which Cascades and RPX
initially agreed. CompareRPX Mot. at 4 (suggesting Cascadesstrhave valued Elbrus Patents
less than $10 millionyith FAC 51 (alleging Cascades reporteel ¥alue of its portfolio to RPX &
over $50 million).f Whether Cascades in fact valiitdpatents this way, and whether such
valuation was realistic, are questofor another day, and not ameleaio resolution at the pleading

stage.Cf. PAE Gov't Servs., Inc. v. MPRI, Ing14 F.3d 856, 858 (9th Cir. 2007) (Rule 12(b)(6)

authorizes courts to "review claims for legal suéfiy,” not to adjudicataerits on the pleadings).

Finally, while RPX's theory explains wiRPXwould decline to take a $12.5 million licens
for only the '750 Patent on behalf of the thenufacturing Defendants,ahis not the license
allegedly offered, and RPX is not the party toowhCascades offered it. The license Cascades
allegedly offered was a licensedach individual Manwafcturing Defendant directly, containing ar]
incentive to accept first which, in RPX's tellimpuld have required the first taker to pay $2.5
million—a figure roughly in line with the amount ealtanufacturing Defendant would have had
pay under the original sub-$10 million offer, assuming an equal split. RPX's overpricing theo
explains why RPX itself would decline that afighen acting as buyer for a defensive buying fun
but it does not fully explain why any individuslanufacturing Defendaratcting in its individual
interest would decline the offer. In esserREX invites the Court tanalyze the Manufacturing
Defendants' individual decisioms if the three comprised agle purchasing unit. For obvious
reasons, this invitation does msatpport RPX's argument for dismissal of Cascades' complaint g

conspiracy to monopsonize.

* RPX discounts as "irrelevant,” "vague," or "cigpallegations tending tshow that the value of
Cascades' patent portfolio was significantly gnetitan $10 million. For example, RPX claims th
it is irrelevant that Intel took kicense "for a substantial, sevégure lump-sum payment" (FAC 1
11), because "Intel's situation was unique, comirtgencontext of Intel lning the patents' lead
inventor, Mr. Boris Baba[ilan." (RPX Mot. &8 The FAC says nothing about Intel "hiring"
Babaian, but does specify that he is "an Intel ke(l@ prestigious honor)." (FAC  10.) Acceptir
RPX's argument requires one to infer that, becBasaian was an Intel Fellow, Intel gratuitously
paid millions for his patents. At the pleadisigge, the Court cannot draw that inference.

®To be clear, the Court does not pass on thstiqureof whether Cascades' alleged offers to
individual Manufacturing Diendants should have been more ativado them. There are a numig
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The Court turns now to the Manufacturingf®edants' call to dismiss the FAC on the
ground that the alleged conspiracy fails to "ma&enomic sense.” (Mfr. Mot. at 14-16.) When
distilled, this contention is not souch one that the alleged conspiréaiys to make sense as it is g
contention that innocent explanations of the Maoturing Defendants' destons to refrain from
taking a license mak®oresense. K.g, id. at 15-16 (Cascades' ovemvation of its patents is a
"perfectly plausible,” "lernative" explanation for Manufactag Defendants' veto of the license
agreement initially struck on their behalf by RPXasubsequent refusal tegotiate individually
with Cascades).) Plainly, the conspiradggéd by Cascades makes economic sense because
would permit potential licensees of the '750 Patemnéalize RPX's publidig stated promise of
"wholesale" pricing, provided theefrained from competitively bidding against each other and

RPX to the market in their stead, where it wouldheesole viable purckar. Close reading of

Manufacturing Defendants' argumenteals that they do not contetitht this alleged arrangement

makes no sense; rather, they argue that tta@gement is implausible because economic self-
interest explains the Nafacturing Defendants' alleged behawasrwell or betr than illegal
collusion. That argument fails because it igndhesFAC's allegationthat at least one
Manufacturing Defendant in the market for the "Pallent expressly declidethrough Roesslein, t(
engage in individual negotiatiomgth Cascades on the ground thgireferred to ngotiate through
RPX; that RPX, through Barhydt, represented itself as speaking for all the Manufacturing
Defendants collectively; and thabne of the Manufacturing Bendants responded to Cascades'
offer of a license that included a rebate for thet tio accept. These specific allegations tend to
exclude innocent explanations for the Manufactubedgendants' refusal teal individually with
Cascades and lend plausibilityttee FAC's allegations of conspay. They also demonstrate how
the alleged conspiracy couldstdt in an economic benefit the Manufacturing Defendants: by

refusing Cascades' direct appdalsheir individual self-interésand instead acting only through

of reasons why the alleged indlual licenses might have beanattractive to an individual
Manufacturing Defendant acting independently,udahg perceived weakness of Cascades' clair
to patent validity, perceived weakness of Cassaithfringement claims, or a desire to repel
perceived nuisance suits. Theutt decides only that the FA&lleges facts which "tend[] to
exclude the possibilitpf independent actionMonsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. CogH5 U.S.
752, 764 (1984), and provide "plausible grounds to infer an agreenfembfhbly 550 U.S. at 556.
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RPX, the Manufacturing Defendants could maintaBingle-buyer market with the requisite mark

power to drive the price of Cascades' licensesitbcompetitive levels. Enforcement of this

arrangement could plausibly be achieved bylith#ged term of each RPX members' subscription
agreement, which could expose individual (ex-)meamsib@ competition with RPX if not renewed.
Discovery may reveal a paucity of evidence thatManufacturing Defendants had any agreeme

or understanding to manipulate market conditiorth@manner alleged, or it may reveal that, as

Defendants contend, a license fog tlbrus Patents collectively @150 Patent alone was worth far

less than Cascades asReBut the FAC alleges facts which tifie, would tend to discount entirely

innocent explanations and plabigi suggest an economic benétitbe derived from conspiringin

® Manufacturing Defendants purport to demonstthe counterintuitive proposition that LG's
settlement of Cascades' claims—that isadseptancef Cascades' asking price—"confirm[s] tha
Cascades' asking price was too high." (Mfr. Rep®.atThey infer from the FAC that LG settled
for $800,000 and then ask the Court to determinethiigtminimal payment," which Manufacturin
Defendants say is "less than a typical run upMagkmanhearing," is "most plusibly viewed as a
nuisance fee."1§.) To support their represttion of the cost of Markmanhearing,
Manufacturing Defendants cite a case where andiefiet paid nearly $4.7 million in fees to win

summary judgment.ld. (citing MarcTec, LLC v. Johnson & Johnsd@64 F.3d 907, 910 (Fed. Cin,

2012).) Setting aside how this argument asks thatGo draw inferences adverse to Cascades,
well as to assume a fact neither alleged inrRA€ nor subject to judial notice—the cost of a
typical Markmanhearing—the argument does not suppainisal, even if the Court were to
accept arguendo its premise that the Elbrus Patagtsvalueless and that LG settled only for

et

nt

g

as

"nuisance value." To wit: if the Court takes at face value Manufacturing Defendants' claim that a

Markmanhearing typically costs $4.7illion, then Cascades' offer of a license for $5 million witl
rebate for the first to accept wowield, for the first taker, a disant even on nuisance value. Ye
the FAC alleges, no Manufacturing Defendasponded, even with an aggressively lower
counteroffer. Thus, even granting ManufactgrDefendants their premises for the sake of
argument, LG's settlement with Cascades doesegaire the Court to infer that Cascades
overvalued the Elbrus Patents when it offerelicense them individually to the Manufacturing
Defendants.

" The Manufacturing Defendants contend that thersegenalties imposed for willful infringement
of valid patents makes any conspiracy to do so "extraordinarily riskihanefore implausible.”
(Mfr. Mot. at 16.) If that view were correct, naapitiff could ever state @aim for conspiracy to
infringe a patent, because the penalties fismigement would always render such a claim
implausible. That view, howeves not correct. While a caumay dismiss as implausible a
conspiracy claim where the alleged conagy is "highly unlkely to succeed,Universal Grading
Serv. v. eBay, IncC-09-2755 RMW, 2012 WL 70644,°d& (N.D. Cal. Jan. 9, 2012), the
Manufacturing Defendants' argumelates not address the likelihood of success of the FAC's al
conspiracy. Rather, it denies tlaatyone would ever be so bold asigk conspiring.That denial is
no reason to dismiss Cascades' FAC.
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so doing, the FAC nudges Cascades' allegationgnspiracy "across the line from conceivable tp
plausible.”" Twombly 550 U.S. at 570.

For the foregoing reasons, the CdDENIES both motions to dismiss insofar as they use
Cascades' purported overvaluationhed Elbrus Patents to attack thlausibility of Cascades' claim
of conspiracy.

2. Horizontal Agreement Between M anufacturing Defendants

Manufacturing Defendants argue ttia¢ FAC is "fatally defefive]" because it alleges "no
more than organizational membeshnd parallel conduct.” (MfiMot. at 11.) RPX makes the
closely related argument that the FAC's allegeddndbspoke conspiracy fails for lack of a rim
connecting the Manufacturing Defendants, bec#hus&AC purportedly fails to allege that RPX
served as the Manufacturing Defiants' go-between. (RPX Mot. at 7-9). According to RPX,
Cascades alleges "no morarhparallel behavior."Id. at 7.)

Had the FAC not augmented the genericgateons of the original complaint with
additional, specific facts, Defendants' arguments would have more merit. The FAC, like the
previous complaint, allegesganizational membership (of tiManufacturing Defendants in RPX)
and parallel conduct (the Mafacturing Defendants' refusal to deal independently with Cascadgs),
but it also alleges more. Those additional aliega are sufficient to "raise[] a suggestion of a
preceding agreementTwombly,550 U.S. at 557%ee also idat 556 (Without moreparallel
conduct does not suggest conspiracy.") (emphasis suppliedyjonsanto 465 U.S. at 764 (calling
for evidence of "something more," meaning, "evickethat tends to exclude the possibility that the
[defendants] were acting independently. . . . ETdmtitrust plaintiff should present direct or
circumstantial evidence that reasonably tengwdwe that the [defendants] had a conscious
commitment to a common scheme designed tceaehan unlawful objectes™) (internal quotation
marks omitted); Holmes & MangiaracinaNyATRUST LAW HANDBOOK 8§ 2:6 (describing necessityf
of pleading, in addition to parallconduct, "plus” factrs such as action against apparent self-
interest or an express invitati to common action). Cascaded not plead "specific back-room
meetings between specific actors at whspecific decisions were maddr re Graphics

Processing Units527 F. Supp. 2d at 1024. Rather, allegiragt$ such as a specific time, place, pr
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person involved in the alleged conspiracies" afecgent "to give a defenaint seeking to respond to
allegations of a conspiracy an idea of where to bedfefidall 518 F.3d at 1047 (internal quotation
marks omitted).

Here, the FAC goes beyond bare assertions oflglacanduct to allege specific facts which

taken together, are suggestivecoficerted action. Specificgalithe FAC alleges that a named
representative, Roesslein, of dieged conspirator, Motorola, affhatively expressed a desire to
conduct business only through RPEAC § 32.) That alone migktiggest nothing more than an
independent, non-actionable business decisgBee Monsan{a!65 U.S. at 761 (citinginited States
v. Colgate & Cq.250 U.S. 300, 307 (1919)). However, theG-does farther. It alleges that, afte

-

Cascades and RPX reached an agreement as¢o RRX's representative, Barhydt, told Cascades

that RPX members, in the plural, had raiselamounts necessary to fund the deal. (FAC 11 31
32). This allegation suggests Rmembers' awareness that RR&s negotiating with Cascades.
The FAC alleges that, later, Barhydt informed Cascédesd to withdraw it®ffer at the previously
agreed-on price because at leasgd RPX member refused to pagttamount. (FAC 1 33.) This
allegation, if proved, could cornistte direct evidence of RPXknowledge, and circumstantial
evidence of RPX members' knowledge, thatiPX members fundinge¢hdeal—a group that
plausibly includes Manufacturingefendants—had to agree on a price for Cascades' licenses.
Supporting this inference is thdegjation that Barhydt informed €eades that RPX would decling
to pursue a license for the '750 Patent al@eabse RPX's "clients"—collectively—wanted to
license Cascades' entire portfolidAC 1 34-35.) This allegati®upports a reasonable inferenge
that the Manufacturing Defendants and RPX hadedjon a concerted caerof action regarding
how to deal with Cascades. Under theseuarstances, the Manufacturing Defendants' lack of
response to Cascades' individual, $5 million liceggiffers, notwithstanding the offers' rebate for
the first to accept, plausibly suggests thistexce of an agreement among Manufacturing
Defendants to refrain from dealing individualiyth Cascades. The allegations also support a
reasonable inference that RPX coordinatedaesgs amongst the Manufacturing Defendants in the

course of acting aséir negotiating agent.
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Also supporting this conclusion are the alleged public statermentsich RPX describes its
ability to achieve "wholesale" pricing for its membelgt is, pricing that is substantially lower th
what companies would pay if they acted individually. (FAC 11 21-22.)iditnip those statement
is a proviso that wholesale pricing candmhdieved through RPX but not independently. The
allegations plausibly describe avitation to common action, and to have RPX coordinate that
action. If the purpose of negdiizg through RPX is to achieverholesale" pricing, then the
advantage of collective bargaining through RPXerlized only if the other Manufacturing
Defendants also decide to negotiate a licensritfih RPX. The evidentiamacts alleged in the
FAC lend plausibility to the algation that "RPX, by puigly stating its intention to accumulate
purchaser-side market power . . . has, in essamgeged each of the [MJaufacturing [D]efendants
to participate in a scheme tdifcially drive the prce or license fee of acquiring the '750 [P]aten
below the competitive rate." (FAC 1 38(e).) Altermatexplanations may exist, but that issue is

yet ripe for resolution.

For the reasons set forth above, the CbartiEs both motions to dismiss to the extent they

assert a failure to plead a rim for Cascades' alleged hub-and-spoke conspiracy.
3. Vertical Agreements Between RPX and Manufacturing Defendants

The Manufacturing Defendants contend thatarreembership in RPX and agreement to
fund a potential deal does not ambtma vertical conspiracy, th@ascades has alleged no more
than that, and that the FAC must therefore be dised. (Mfr. Mot. at 13-14¥fr. Reply. at 4-5.)
RPX frames this same issue in terms of Casggulurported failure to plead the "spokes" of its
alleged hub-and-spoke conspira¢iRPX Reply at 7-8.) Both arguants hinge on the fact, alleged
in the FAC, that the "subscription contract"-atls, written membershiggreement—between RP
and each individual Manufacturing Defendant "putgdly” allows individual RPX members such
as Manufacturing Defendants "to deal independenttizeir own self-interest. . ." (FAC 1 20.)
According to Defendants, this provision in théscription agreement, whose existence they not
only admit but rely upon, defeats €ades' claim of a vertical consgty to restrain trade. The
Court discusses the "restraint of tradgieas of these arguments in Section Ill.Brifra; here, it

confines its analysis tine "agreement” aspect.
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The FAC acknowledges the RPX membershigagrent's "purported” reservation of RPX

members' rights to negotiate separately fronX Rihd thereby to compete with each other and,

theoretically, RPX itself in bidding for patent licenses. It also alleges, however, that "the whole
purpose of RPX and the reason for joining RPX i®tm an industry group of potential purchasers

who can jointly exercise groypurchasing power . .. ."ld.) In other words, while the FAC allegegs

a written agreement between RPX and each individual Manufacturing Defendant which permits

individual negotiation, it alseuggests that in this instameach Manufacturing Defendant
understood that it shouldfrain from exercising itsight to negotiate individually with Cascades

and instead deal with Cascadesaitthrough RPX or not at allld; 11 26-27.)

The FAC alleges specific facts which begal@usible inference that such an understanding

existed here. The understanding of each Manufiag Defendant that ghould refrain from

independent negotiation with Caseads suggested by Motorola representative Roesslein's alleged

refusal to negotiate with Casaalexcept through RPKFAC 1 32), which came in the context of

RPX's alleged public statements inviting colleetaction through RPX to achieve wholesale pricing

(FAC 11 21-22). The FAC further alleges thatewlipresented with indidual licensing offers
including inducements for the first to accapd, Manufacturing Defendant responded. These
allegations support the inference of a seconidthe-books" agreement anderstanding between
each Manufacturing Defendant and RPX. Manufacturing Defendants ignore allegations
pertaining to this second agreementeffect arguing that the exence of one agreement precludg

the existence of a second. Nothinghe FAC compels the Court to so find.

Further, Manufacturing Defendantischaracterize the nature of the agreement alleged|i

the FAC. Manufacturing Defendants describerthdéged agreement with RPX as one "to fund
potential deal.” (Mfr. Mot. at 13.) That degtion ignores allegationthat the Manufacturing
Agreements agreed not only to fund a potewkl, a deal which RPX allegedly reached with
Cascades (FAC 1 32), but to funeiither collectively or not at glls suggested by RPX's
withdrawal from the deal after "one or moreitsfmembers" refused funding (FAC § 33). This
agreement, to use RPX exclusively notwithstandiegpilirported ability to refrain from doing so,

the secondary verticalgreement plausibly suggestedthg facts alleged in the FAC.
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For the reasons set forth above, the Court fihdsCascades has alleged facts sufficient {o

infer the plausible existence athub-and-spoke conspiracy. Acdogly, Defendants' motions to
dismiss ardDENIED to the extent they challenge Cascagi=sading of the consgacy element of its
Section 1 claims.

B. SECOND ELEMENT OF SECTION 1 CLAIMS. UNREASONABLE RESTRAINT OF TRADE

Defendants attack Cascades' pleading ofdl@sient on two grounds. Defendants argue
Cascades fails to plead any restraf trade in lightof its acknowledgement that the subscription
agreement between RPX and its members ssfyr@ermits members to negotiate and enter
licensing agreements independent of RPX. Defesdanther contend that, em if the Court finds
a restraint of trade, Cascades has pledmeasonableestraint of trade. In this vein, they argue
that Cascades fails to plead either a per se amtiialation or a violation of the rule of reason. T
Court addresses theamyuments in order.

1. No Restraint of Trade

Both RPX and Manufacturing Defendants argue @ecades fails to allege any restraint
trade—Ilet alone an unreasonable restraimtanfe—because, while Cascades alleges that
Manufacturing Defendants agreed to have RPX tigigoon their collective behalf, Cascades als
admits that RPX members' subscription agreimvith RPX permits members to negotiate

independently of RPX. (RPX Mot. at 6; RPX Repty2; Mfr. Mot. at 17-18.) RPX further argueg

that Cascades' allegations of a restraint on maeleontradicted by the fact that RPX members LG

and Philips negotiated indoual deals to license the '750 Paterthv@ascades. (RPX Mot. at 6.)
These arguments fail because they would requa€tbhurt impermissibly to disregard well-pleadd
evidentiary facts alleged in the complaintadraw inferences adrse to Cascades.

Cascades acknowledges tha fubscription agreementstiween RPX and its members
"purportedly give members the abylito deal independently in theawn self-interest.” (FAC { 20.
However, it does not follow from thadt that the Manufacturing Defendants peemittedto deal
independently that theyid deal independently. As setfio in detail in Section I11.A.3suprg

sufficient facts have been pledatlege coordinated conduct incladithe statements of more thar

one executive and the timing of discussions reldatvide known conduct. (FAC 11 31-32, 42, 48.
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On these allegations, it is reasonable to infer tlietence of a restraint drade in the form of a
secondary, "off-the-books" agreement or understantdi deal only through RPX, despite being
contractually permitted to do otherwise.

That alleged co-conspirators LG and Philipgoie"” from the alleged conspiracy by settlin

«Q

their claims with Cascades does not render ingiltdel the inference of a secondary agreement tp
deal with Cascades only through RPX. Ondbetrary, the settlements by LG and Philips could
support an inference that the '750 Patent wad aald infringed, lends a competitive advantage, and
had been driven to sub-competitive prices by the three Manufacturing Defendants' domination of 1
buyer's market, leading smaller players to capgigadin the market conditiomseated by the alleged
conspiracy. A conspiracy need rgt effective to be illegalSee Plymouth Dealers' Ass'n of No.
Cal. v. United State®79 F.2d 128, 133 (9th Cir. 1960). Nor does the failure, dissolution, or s¢ope
of an alleged conspiracy neceadlyarender it implausible. Theltimate question is whether the
claimed conspiracy is plausiblelight of all the evidentiary factslafged in the complaint. Here, it
is.

For the foregoing reasons, the CdDENIES Defendants' motions to dismiss to the extent
they argue Cascades fails plausibly to allege a restraint on trade.

2. Alternatively, No Unreasonable Restraint

Defendants argue that, even if the FAC alleg@esesgestraint on trade, it fails to allege an
unreasonableestraint under either the per se or the afileeason tests. TheoGrt need not rule at
this juncture whether the FAC alleges a restraitirade that is pese unreasonable because it

concludes that the FAC's allegations sufficelead a violation of the rule of reasbn.

8 Courts presumptively apptie rule of reason standardcept in those cases where the

alleged agreement or activity is "manifestlyieompetitive” and lacks "any redeeming virtue."
Leegin Creative Leather Products, Inc. v. PSKS, bl U.S. 877, 886 (2007) (internal quotation
marks omitted). Further, "the per se rule is appropriate only after courts have had considerable
experience with the type of restraattissue . . . and only if courts caredict with confidence that it
would be invalidated in all or almodt amstances under thelaiof reason[.]"Id. at 886-87
(citations omitted). Here, Cascades characterizes the alleged conspiracy as a simple price-fjxing
scheme among direct competitoesy, FAC § 67; Opp'n at 27-28), though the FAC could be said to
allege a group boycott byrdict competitors as wekée e.g, FAC 11 39, 100). Normally, either
form of restraint is conseted per se unreasonableeegin 551 U.S. at 886 (horizontal price-
fixing); NYNEX Corp. v. Discon, Inc525 U.S. 128, 135 (1998) (competitors' boycott). Howevs

-
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Under the rule of reason, a piaff must plead that the chenged agreement, by virtue of
the defendants' market power, was unreasonablyatéstrdof competition in a relevant market an

that the plaintiff suffered antitrust injuryNat'l Soc. of Prof| Engineers v. United Staté35 U.S.

679, 690 (1978). The relevant market has two dsmmns: the "relevant geographic market" and

the "relevant product marketBrown Shoe v. United Stafe&870 U.S. 294, 325 (1962). In the
motions at bar, Defendants disputhether Cascades has adeduatefined the relevant product
market in which Defendants allegedly restraineahpetition. Under traditional principles, whethe
“products are part of the same or differenpfuct] markets under antitrust law depends on whe
consumers view those products as reasorsliistitutes for each other and would switch among
them in response to changeselative prices|.]"Apple, Inc. v. Psystar Corpb86 F. Supp. 2d
1190, 1196 (N.D. Cal. 2008) (citingewcal Indus.513 F.3d at 1045). However, because the
validity of the relevant market tygally is a factual rather than ayl issue, an antitrust complaint

survives dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) "unlessalleged market suffersfatal legal defect.”

the Court believes that this case is not the dgp®of case in which those categories of per se

unreasonable restraints were developed. Thatdause the market here is one for an intellectual

property right rather than for a gooda service, and a market fatellectual property is, at least
arguably, different in kind from the traditional ebjs of antitrust analysis. For example, it is not|
obvious how the high incidence pétent invalidity should impact esomic analysis of a "market”
for patent licenses, considegi how often the patents underlyitigpse licenses are revealed as
worthless. That factor aloneowld appear to make pricing patdicenses an altogether more
volatile and risky proposition thgsricing known widgets, with uncertain impacts on the market
such licenses. A market would only seem to exisvédid patents, but patent validity may be
difficult to predict. The Court isognizant that the validity of thé50 Patent is currently at issue i
litigation outside this District.

The economic questions raised by thisecaie more complex than Cascades has
acknowledged. The Court notes the Supreme Couetlsctan[ce] to adopt pee rules with regard
to restraints imposed in the context of busimetsionships where the @somic impact of certain
practices is not imnuiately obvious."Leegin 551 U.S. at 877 (quotirfgtate Oil Co. v. Kharb22
U.S. 3, 10 (1997)). Moreover, per se rules deftigen a considered assessment of a business
practice's demonstrable economic effentd,from empty formal categorieSee Bus. Electronics
Corp. v. Sharp Electronics Corpd85 U.S. 717, 726 (1988)eegin 551 U.S. at 887. The Court
believes this case presents non-obvious questiomst the economic effect of RPX's business
model. Accordingly, the Court is unwilling say—at least without furer development of the
record—that the type of arrangement alleged ir=&€ is so manifestly anticompetitive, so lackil
in redeeming virtues, and so cantéo be invalidated under the rudé reason that it may confidentl
be labeled a per se wasonable restraint.
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Newcal Indus.513 F.3d at 1045 ("a complaint may be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) if the
complaint's 'relevant market' definition is facially unsustainable") (c@ngen City Pizza, Inc. v.
Domino's Pizza, Inc124 F.3d 430, 436-37 (3d Cir. 1998¢e Rebel Oil Co., Ing. Atl. Richfield
Co, 51 F.3d 1421, 1435 (9th Cir. 1995) (definitiorrefievant market "is &actual inquiry").

In dismissing the initial complaint, the Courtdhéhat Cascades failed to identify a cohere
relevant market, offering instedsubterfuge” in the form of numeus, wildly divergent definitions
(Jan. 24 Order at 15.) The Court observed that&#es was not required "to limit its antitrust
allegations to a single market or sub-market,"ddt'need to specify the market or markets in
which the allegedly anticompetitive acts occurred . . Id") (In amending its complaint, Cascade
has more precisely defined the relevant mark8isecifically, it has identified as the relevant
product market the market for "purchase, acquoisitr licensing of technology covered by" all th¢
Elbrus Patents, with the market for licenseder the '750 Patent alone allegedly constituting a
relevant submarket. (FAC 11 92, 94.) Cascadessdkiat the former, broader market, for licensg
under all the Elbrus Patents exists only because of "the requirements of RPX and the
[M]anufacturing [D]efendants" tpurchase a license gnlinder the entire ptolio of Elbrus
Patents. $eeFAC 1 92.) The Court finds in these defiimms no "fatal legatlefect” that compels
dismissal at this stage, especially given #uk lof clarity in the intellectual property arena.

The Court rejects Manufacturing Defendants' argat that Cascades' asserted market is

legally untenable because the FAC "containgaats concerning reasoriabnterchangeability,

cross-elasticity of demand, anyaother factors needed to establish the relevant product market}"

(Mfr. Mot. at 21;see alsaMifr. Reply at 11-13 (same).) That Manufacturing Defendants conten
that the FAC must be dismissed because&des has pled no facts regarding competing
technologies that the ManufacturiBDgfendants could use instead of thi50 Patent or other Elbru
Patents. (Mfr. Mot. at 21-22 That argument is unavailing aiglstage. Cascades alleges a
monopsony in the market buy Cascades' patents, nananopoly in the market teellthem. The
proper focus of the market analysis in monopsonggs&s"the commonality and interchangeabili
of the buyers, not the commonality otarchangeability of the sellersTodd v. Exxon Corp275

F.3d 191, 202 (2d Cir. 2001) (internal quotation marks omittes;alsd<amakahi v. Am. Soc. for
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Reprod. Med.C 11-01781 SBA, 2013 WL 1768706, at ¥M0.D. Cal. Mar. 29, 2013) (where

defendants allegedly comprise a buyers' cartekaleeant market is comprised of buyers "who are

seen by sellers as being reasonably good sutesti). Here, the Manufacturing Defendants
allegedly comprise between 75 and 90 perceat t#ast the relevant submarket of buyers of
licenses under the '750 Patent. That sufficestabksh a plausible market, sufficient to survive g
Rule 12(b)(6) motion Cf. In re Webkinz Antitrust LitigC 08-1987 RS, 2010 WL 4168845, at *3
(N.D. Cal. Oct. 20, 2010) ("On a motion to dismibg court need not engameextensive analyseq
of reasonable interchangeabildapd cross elasticity of demand.”) (internal quotation marks and
brackets omitted).

RPX offers a different challenge to Cascadea'ket definitions. RR does not dispute that
those market definitions are valitistead, it argues that thacts alleged in the FAC "flatly
contradict" them. (RPX Mot. at 9.) SpecificalPX contends that tHeAC itself demonstrates
that Cascades' patented technologyloa used on electronic devicaber thanthose using the
Android operating system. From this premise, RPX argues that Cascades, by limiting its sul
definition to manufacturersf Android devices, has overstatee ghare of the market for the 750
Patent controlled by the Manufadhg Defendants and, thus, by RPX.

The Court rejects this argument because it distbetdacts actually alleged in the FAC. A
an initial matter, the FAC expressdlleges: "The technology of thgbrus 750 patent facilitates th
installation and use of. . application®n Android devices. . ." (FAC 1 13 (emphasis supplied).)
RPX merely argues, in essenttggt this allegation is notde. Though RPX may prove correct,
whether the technology covered by th80 Patent is truly limited tAndroid devices is a factual
dispute, not a pleading deficiency.

Further, while RPX's argument hinges on thistexce of purported contradictions in the
FAC, the allegations referenced by RPX are mofact, contradictory. Specifically, RPX takes
Cascades to task for its allegation that it sdidemse to Philips in light of Philips's alleged "0%
market share,” suggesting that because Philipsders deescribed as having a 0 percent share off
market for Android devices, it must sell non-Andrdilices that use the '750 Patent. However,

use of the figure "0%" merely represents a deimus but actual share of the market for Android

24

)

|

mark

the
the




United States District Court
Northern District of California

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

devices, something less than 1 perceBee(supraote 3.) RPX also bases its contradiction
argument on the FAC's allegations that Cascaffesed licenses to non-parties Hynix and Pante
whom, according to RPX, do not make Android devidesst, the fact of which devices Hynix an
Pantech actually manufacture is atleged in, or fairly inferable ém, the FAC, nor is it judicially
noticeable under Federal Rule of Evidence 2B8&cond, the allegations to which RPX cites
concerning Hynix and Pantech describ@scades offering those compargemelicense, not
necessarily a license undée '750 Patent. (FAC 1 48.) Inde¢he FAC suggests that at least th
license to Hynix involved a different Elbridatent. (FAC 103 (Cascades sued Hynix in
connection with alleged infringement of a liserpertaining to DRAM technology, rather than
Android).) Nothing in the FAGupports RPX's position that théeneant market is necessarily
broader than the market Cascades alleges. $thessdentified in RPX's motion are disputed iss
of fact, not pleading issues.

For the reasons stated above, the FAC supplimarket definition sufficient to survive
Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) challges. Accordingly, the CoulENIES both motions to dismiss to
the extent they are premised on a failurallege an unreasonabiestraint of trade.

C. SECTION 2 CLAIMS: M ONOPSONIZATION

Section 2 of the Sherman Act makes it unldwdu'monopolize, attempt to monopolize, or|
combine or conspire . . . to monopolize" any pathefnation's interstate or foreign commerce.
U.S.C. § 2. Cascades here alleges a monopsoigh Wk sometimes colloquially called a 'buyer
monopoly." Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Ross-Simmons Hardwood Lumber Cp548dJ.S. 312, 320
(2007);see also United States Syufy Enterprise®903 F.2d 659, 663 n.4 (9th Cir. 1990)
(describing monopoly and monopsony as “"equivalerti)addition to its claim against all
Defendants for a conspiracy to monopsonize (CBWRAC 11 79-83)), Cascades also asserts,
against RPX alone, a claim of actual deatpted monopsony (Claim 4 (FAC 11 84-107)).

To plead actual monopsonization, a pldfrtiust allege: (1jnonopsony power in the
relevant market, (2) that was willfulpcquired and (3) caused antitrust injuSee Am. Prof'l

Testing Serv., Inc. v. Harcourt Bracevadmovich Legal & Prof| Publ'ns, Inc108 F.3d 1147, 1151
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(9th Cir. 1997)? Pleading monopsony power requires allegsiof a "dominant” market share,
generally at least 65 perceree Image Technical Serdsg. v. Eastman Kodak Gadl25 F.3d
1195, 1206 (9th Cir. 1997) (citirgebel Oi) 51 F.3d at 1434American Tobacco Co. v. United
States 328 U.S. 781, 797 (1946)). For attempteohopsonization, a plaintiff must allege a
"dangerous probability” of achieving monopsony powgeeRebel Oi) 51 F.3d at 1433.

Here, Cascades alleges that RPX wieldmopsony power in the market for Cascades'
patents—and specifically for the '750 Patent—nby virtue of lesae purchasing agent for the
Manufacturing Defendants, "who cadtéevely control more than 90% of the mobile phone busine
using the Android operating system and 75% ofcthrabined mobile phone and tablet business.’
(FAC 1 88.) RPX, however, discasrthese allegations as peniag only to the Manufacturing
Defendant's share of the "downstream" produatket for Android mobile devices but saying
"nothing about their buyer share in tiggstreamnput market” for the '750 Patent. (RPX Mot. at
(emphasis in original).)The Court rejects that argument. thiag in the FAC suggests that anyon
would or could participate in tHeipstream™ market for the 750 Patent except for the makers of
Android devices that the '750 teat allegedly optimizes. RPMnts that there may be other
purchasers for the '750 Patent, but the Cowgtar@ady addressed how that suggestion is
unsupported by the facts alleged in the FASed supr&ection 111.B.2.)

The CourtDENIES RPX's motion to dismiss to the emtat seeks dismissal of Cascades'
Section 2 claims for failure to aje market power and market share.

D. NOERR-PENNINGTON DOCTRINE

In addition to challenging the pleading@&scades' prima facie case, Manufacturing
Defendants also raise the collateral matteda@érr-Penningtonmmunity. TheNoerr-Pennington
doctrine stems from the First Amendment rigghpetition the government, and immunizes from
civil liability both (1) petitionng activity itsel—for instancé[a] complaint, an answer, a
counterclaim"—and (2) "conductdidental to a petition.'Freeman v. Lasky, Haas & Coh|et10

F.3d 1180, 1183-84 (9th Cir. 2005). Only those ltimaactivities that communicate to the court

® RPX does not expressly challenge Cascadedipigaf either the "wiful acquisition” or
"antitrust injury" prongs.
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constitute petitioning activity itselfSosa v. DIRECTV, Inc437 F.3d 923, 933 (9th Cir. 2006)
(citing Freeman 410 F.3d at 1184). Still, conductidental to a petition, including
"communications betweenipate parties,” may enjoMoerr-Penningtorprotection, "so long as
they are sufficiently related to petitioning activityld. at 935. Certain private, litigation-related
communications must be analyzed to determihether a sufficient relationship to legitimate
petitioning activity existsE.g, Freeman 410 F.3d at 1185 (discovery constituted conduct
incidental to a petition)Sosa 437 F.3d at 935-37 (demand letters sent prior to formal
commencement of lawsuit constiéd conduct incidental to a pdn). The Ninth Circuit has
expressly held, however, that "[@écision to accept or reject affer of settlement is conduct
incidental to the prosecution ofelsuit and not a separate and dettarctivity which might form the
basis for antitrust liability."Columbia Pictures Indus., Inc. Prof'| Real Estate Investors, In@44
F.2d 1525, 1528 (9th Cir. 1991) aff'd, 508 U.S. 49 (1988;also Freemad10 F.3d at 1184-85
(acknowledging this rulesosa 437 F.3d at 934-35 (same).

Here, Manufacturing Defendants as$éoerr-Penningtonmmunity on three grounds. First

they contend that "the decisitmaccept or reject a licensing offer from Cascades under the
circumstances described in the [FAC] was agieniwhether or not to settle Cascades' patent
claims." (Mfr. Mot. at 23.) The Court canragree on the record before it. The FAC does not
allege sufficient matter to establish that the Manturing Defendants' desion to reject a license
wasipso factoa decision not to settle. Determinwhether the Manufacturing Defendants' alleged
cooperative conduct fallsithin the ambit oNoerr-Penningtomecessarily requires a close look gt
the timing of any decision to refuse Cascattehvidual licensing overtures, the timing of any
perceived threats or demands pre-lawsuit, the socbary perceived threatnd potentially other,
unforeseen matters. The FAC does not identify tee=mmaents with sufficient particularity for the
Court to determine that tidoerr-Penningtordoctrine shields the Manufacturing Defendants'
alleged collective actioff. To the contrary, as set forthrhi, the revised allegations suggest

ulterior motivations.

19 Manufacturing Defendants argue ttiz¢ FAC must be dismissed bioerr-Penningtorgrounds
because the events purportedly gigyrise to Cascades' antitrust injuries, and therefore its standing
to sue, occurred prior to the commencement @flitmois patent litigation—those events being the
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Second, the Manufacturing Defendants argue@aatcades bears the burden of pleading
facts "rebutting IlNoerr-Penningtordoctrine's] applicability."(Mfr. Mot. at 22.) The Court
disagrees. Both cases that Mauifiring Defendants cite for thisinciple are cases involving the
sham litigation exception tdoerr-Penningtordoctrine. SeeOregon Natural Resources Council V.
Mohla, 944 F.2d 531 (9th Cir. 1991Kpttle v. Nw. Kidney Center&46 F.3d 1056 (9th Cir. 1998).

The sham-litigation exception:

encompasses situations in which persons use the governmental
process—as opposed to the outcome of that process—as an
anticompetitive weapon. A classicample is the filing of frivolous
objections to the license application of a competitor, with no
expectation of achievingenial of the license but simply in order to
impose expense and delay. A "sham" situation involves a defendant
whose activities are mgenuinely aimed a procuring favorable
government action at all, not one who genuinely seeks to achieve his
governmental result, but does so through improper means.

Kottle, 146 F.3d at 1060 (quotir@ity of Columbia v. Omni Outdoor Advertising, 99 U.S.
365, 380 (1991)). In the cases relied upoiMayufacturing Defendast actual petitioning
occurred—inOregon Natural Resources Coundche filing of acounterclaim; irkottle, lobbying
before an administrative agency—which requiregdhtitrust plaintiff tashow how the petitioning
activity fit into Noerr-Penningtots sham exception. Neither opinion stands for the broad
proposition that antitrust plaintifisear the burden of pleading arouxderr-Penningtorwhen, as
here, the doctrine is implicatdxy "conduct incidental to a petiti” instead of direct petitioning
activity itself. The Court ids the Manufacturing Defendah&uthorities inapposite.

Finally, the Manufacturin@pefendants contend th&bsasupports a finding dloerr-
Penningtonimmunity here, regardless of the timingaofy licensing negotiations vis-a-vis the
lllinois lawsuits, because any reflisa settle was simply conduct anticipation of a lawsuit. The
argument rests on an overly broad readin§ada In that case, the Ninth Circuit upheld a district

court's dismissal of a RICO complaint under RL2¢b)(6), holding that sending formal demand

alleged October 2011 failure of licensing negadias with RPX and Manufacturing Defendants’
alleged January 2012 refusal to respond to Casaadestual settlement offers. (Mfr. Reply at
13-14.) The Court cannot so find as a mattdawf because the argument rests on the not-yet-
established premise that a refiusetake a license under Caseatpatents was tantamount to a
refusal to settle.
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letters was protected activity incidental tpedition, notwithstanding thfact that the demand
letters, as threats to sue,n@esent before any lawsuit, and hence any petition, exiSteeSosa 437
F.3d at 936-37. Th8osacourt observed that demand lettars "a common, if not universal,
feature of modern litigation" and analyzed a variety of ways in which protection of presuit
settlement demands furthers the same concerns animiierg-Penningtordoctrine's direct
protection of lawsuits themselvekl. Here, the allegations of the FAC are insufficient to concly
that the threat ditigation, if any, inherenin Cascades' licensing negaitieas with Manufacturing
Defendants was concrete and deéirenough to make an offerlicense tantamount to a presuit
settlement demand. If anything, the FAC suppibrésopposite inference, alleging that, after
Motorola refused Cascades' direct overtlnesause it preferred to negotiate through RPX,
Cascades, rather than immediately suing, begarking with RPX. Manufacturing Defendants
essentially ask the Court impermissibly to drafeiences in their favor rather than Cascades',
notwithstanding this case's procealysosture and the confinemaitthe Court's inquiry to the
well-pleaded allegations of the FAC.

The CourtDeENIES Manufacturing Defendants' motion to dissito the extent it is predicate
on Noerr-Penningtonmmunity. This denial is without pjudice to any defendant raising the
defense after further development of the record.

E. STATE-LAW CLAIMS

Cascades asserts two claims based on Qaibfetate law, both asserted against all
Defendants: (1) violation d@alifornia's Cartwright ActCal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 167@ seq.and
(2) violation of California's Unfair Congtition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17280seq This
Court earlier ruled that Cascades' state-law claisesamnd fall with its federal claims. (Jan. 24
Order at 23-24.) Accordingly, Cascades' fedel@ms having survived dismissal, the Court
DEeNIES both motions to dismiss insofar agyhattack Cascades' state-law claims.

I
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V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the respective Motions to Dismiss of defendants RPX
Corporation and, jointly, HTC @poration, Motorola Mobility Holdings, Inc., and Samsung
Electronics Co. Ltd., arBENIED. ™

Plaintiff Cascades Computer Innovation LLC is her@®pERED TO SHow CAUSE why this
action should not be stayed pending resolution ofrteets of the patent litigation underway in thy
Northern District of lllinois. Plaintiff shall file a written resgnse of no more than 10 pages, no
more than 5 business days from the signatute afethis Order. RPX and the Manufacturing
Defendants may reply to Plaintiff's response pesate responses of no more than 5 pages eaci
filed no more than 3 business days after Plainté&ponse. The Court will determine after briefi
whether oral argument is required.

This Order terminates Docket Nos. 98, 99, and 118.

WW

I T 1SS0 ORDERED.

Date: December 3, 2013

1%

I

=

U YVONNE GONZALEZ ROGERS
UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT JUDGE

' The Court alsENIESASMOOT Cascades' Motion for Leave to File Notice of Recent Decisipn

(Dkt. No. 118). The decision Cascades has lodged, a ruling in the ongtangligation in the
Northern District of Illinois delining to dismiss Cascades' infgement suit for lack of standing,
played no part in the Court's ruling here, whichasfined to the sufficiency of the pleadings.
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